FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/3/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/3/2023 2:37 PM

102150-0

(COA NO. 83893-8)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL WEISMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Department of Employment Security, et al.,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### MacDONALD HOAGUE & BAYLESS

Timothy K. Ford, WSBA #5986
Nathaniel Flack, WSBA # 58582
705 2nd Avenue, Suite 1500
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 622-1604
Timf@mhb.com
Nathanielf@mhb.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

###

INTRODUCTION
IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
ISSUES PRESENTED.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
a. Factual and Procedural Background
b. The Court of Appeals' Decision
ARGUMENT
REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH U.S. SUPREME COURT AUTHORITY ON AN ISSUE OF FEDERAL LAW, AND THE MISUSE OF NONJUDICIAL TAX REFUND INTERCEPTS BY THE STATE DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY IN THE COLLECTION OF ALLEGED OVERPAYMENT DEBTS PRESENTS SIGNIFICANT ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THIS COURT. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4)
CONCLUSION28

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## Cases Crowder v. Key, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37683 (E.D. Wn. 3/2/2021...... 22 Greene v. Pierce County, 197 Wn.2d 841 487 P.3d 499 (2021) .............. 24 Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561, 115 S. Ct. 1061, • boduskey v. McCarthy & Holthus LLP, 586 U.S. \_\_\_\_, Salazar v. Lubbock Cty. Hosp. Dist., 982 F.3d 386 (5th Cir. 2020)....... 22 Yates v. United States, 574 U.S. 528, 135 S. Ct. 1074, **Statutes**

#### **Other Authorities**

2021 Labor Market and Economic Report, Washington State Employment Security Department, (2022)
Black's Law Dictionary 594 (6th ed.1990)
Black's Law Dictionary 277 (5th ed. 1979)
Black's Law Dictionary 351 (10th ed. 2014)
Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary, 483 (1986)
Rules
RAP 13.4(a)
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4)
Regulations
31 C.F.R. § 285.8
31 C.F.R. § 285.8(c)
31 C.F.R. § 285.8(c)(3)(i)
31 C.F.R. § 285.8(c)(3)(ii)
20 C F R 8 416 913(a) 15

#### INTRODUCTION

This case raises an issue that potentially impacts tens of thousands of Washingtonians currently facing claims by the Department of Employment Security ("ESD") that they were overpaid unemployment benefits in connection with stimulus measures taken during the COVID-19 pandemic. It involves a little-known, extraordinary power: the power to summarily take a person's federal income tax refund without any judicial involvement or authorization. That power arises from and is governed by federal law, 26 U.S.C. § 6402; 31 C.F.R. § 285.8.

ESD claims federal law allows it to take property this way whenever it issues a letter asserting that a person was overpaid benefits and the person doesn't seek administrative review, whatever the reason for the alleged overpayment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Thousands of WA workers remain trapped in unemployment overpayments, Seattle <u>Times</u>, June 2, 2023, page 1; Thousands of WA Workers May Have to Repay Millions of Dollars in Pandemic Benefits, Seattle <u>Times</u> March 2, 2023 (copies attached as Appendix E).

However, federal law grants this extraordinary power only if an overpayment was the result of "fraud or failure to report earnings." 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f). It also requires agencies seeking to collect money this way to provide fair notice and consider evidence submitted in response before doing so. *Id.*; 31 C.F.R. § 285.8(c).

The trial court held that ESD's noncompliance with these federal law requirements violated Petitioner Weisman's statutory and constitutional rights, and it ordered ESD to return his tax refund. The Court of Appeals granted interlocutory review and reversed, upholding ESD's position that a person "fail[s] to report earnings" whenever they are overpaid benefits, regardless of the reason for the overpayment. In doing so it ignored authorities ranging from BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY to the Supreme Court of the United States which hold that "failure" means "fault, negligence, or refusal."

The Court of Appeals also declared *sua sponte* that ESD actually "considered" Mr. Weisman's objection to the seizure—

although ESD conceded, and the trial court held, that it did not. And the appeals panel also found that ESD's decision to take Mr. Weisman's property was not only properly reached but also substantively correct—although the trial court hadn't ruled on that issue and ESD didn't seek review of it. The panel thus held that ESD did not violate Mr. Weisman's rights under either the governing federal statutes or the Fourteenth Amendment.

This decision warrants review and correction by this

Court's for several reasons. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). The

most important is the public interest. Although the decision is

unpublished, ESD has made it clear it intends to use it to justify

its position and the manner in which it exercises this unusual

power to take property without court involvement. That gives it
a powerful—and we submit unfair and legally unauthorized—

advantage over the thousands of people to whom it claims it

overpaid benefits during COVID. That includes people who

may have been overpaid through no fault of their own or due to

ESD's own errors, or who were not really overpaid at all.

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner Michael Weisman was the plaintiff below and the respondent in the Court of Appeals. In 2020 he was employed by the State Department of Health and received unemployment payments as part of a "SharedWork" program in which he was enrolled because of disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The decision of the Court of Appeals was first issued on April 10, 2023, Weisman v. ESD, CoA No. 83893-8-I,
Appendix A. It reversed the trial court's order, which had declared that the manner in which ESD seized Mr. Weisman's income tax refund violated federal law and had ordered the refund returned. Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on May 10, 2023. Appendix B. On June 5, 2023, the Court of Appeals denied ESD's Motion to Publish, withdrew the April opinion, and substituted a new one that reached the same result with one minor change. See Appendix C & D.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Does the word "failure" in 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f) connote fault, negligence or refusal by the person alleged to have failed to do something?
- 2. On review of an order that granted partial summary judgment to one party, can an appeals court grant partial summary judgment to an opposing party who did not properly seek that relief in the trial court or in include it in its Notice of Discretionary Review?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### a. Factual and Procedural Background

In 2020, Petitioner Michael Weisman was an employee of the Washington State Department of Health (DOH). CP 1-3, 66-67. In June that year, during the COVID-19 epidemic, he was placed on a "SharedWork" plan with ESD. Under the plan, ESD provided unemployment benefits to DOH employees who were subject to furlough due to the pandemic, even though they remained employed. *Id.*; RP 34:24–35.

In September and October 2020, ESD sent letters to Mr. Weisman in which it claimed it had overpaid him and he owed it money ("overpayment letters"). CP 113–115, 296-299, 301-304, 306-309. The letters said he had 30 days to appeal, but Mr. Weisman did not do so—in reliance, he says, on assurances from ESD and DOH officials that he didn't need to do that and they would address any discrepancies. CP 2-4, 120-121, 130-134, 185-186, 404-406.

Then on November 28, 2020, ESD sent Mr. Weisman a "Notice of Intent to Intercept Federal (IRS) Tax Refund," informing him that ESD intended to his intercept his federal income tax refund for the previous year. The notice cited 31 C.F.R. § 285.8, which says that such Notices

... must give the debtor at least 60 days to present evidence, in accordance with procedures established by the State, that all or part of the debt is not past due or not legally enforceable, or, in the case of a covered unemployment compensation debt, the debt is not due to fraud or the debtor's failure to report earnings...

31 C.F.R. §285.8(c)(3)(i) (emphasis added); see RP 27:6-22. The federal regulation also says:

The State *must*, in accordance with procedures established by the State, *consider* any evidence presented by a debtor in response to the notice described in paragraph (c)(3)(i) of this section *and determine* whether an amount of such debt is past due and legally enforceable *and*, in the case of a covered unemployment compensation debt, the debt is due to fraud or the debtor's failure to report earnings.

31 C.F.R. § 285.8(c)(3)(ii) (emphasis added); *accord* 26 U.S.C. § 6402 (authorizing statute); RP 27:6-22.

The Notice sent to Mr. Weisman said if he "believe[d] all or a part of the debt is not past due or legally enforceable under the Treasury Offset Program<sup>[2]</sup> because it is not based on fraud or on your failure to report earnings, you must send evidence to support your position" to a specified email address. CP 117-118; RP 27:23-28:9. It didn't say what it meant by "evidence."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The tax refund intercept is also referred to in some sources as the "Treasury Offset Program," or "TOP."

On January 15, 2021—within the 60-day time limit set by 31 C.F.R. § 285.8 —Mr. Weisman sent an email to that address. RP 28:3-25; CP 120-121, 234-236. In this email, Mr. Weisman tried to explain what had occurred and specifically denied he had "committed any fraud or any intentional misrepresentation;" he said he "did as we were directed" and that ESD's "web site is difficult to navigate and this process was impenetrable…." CP 120-121; RP 25:9-17.<sup>3</sup>

That same day, a computer autoresponder at ESD sent Mr. Weisman a boilerplate message which assured him that he had *not* been accused of fraud. CP 122 ("You do not owe us any money as a result of a fraudulent claim."); RP 28:19-25. A few days later—still within the 60-day period—ESD's collections office sent a second email to Mr. Weisman telling him his only recourse was to appeal through the Office of

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  See also CP 120-122 (Weisman email to Collections), 189-192 and 277-282 (ESD hours reporting forms), 264 – 273 (ESD weekly claim forms).

Administrative Hearings (OAH). CP 123, 234-236; RP 29:1-7; RP 29:8-14. Neither email explained ESD's decision or identified any deficiency in his submission.

On January 29, 2021—the 61<sup>st</sup> day after the notice—ESD's computer systems automatically referred Mr. Weisman's alleged debt to the U.S. Department of the Treasury for intercept of his federal tax refund. CP 229. ESD's computer programs then automatically intercepted a portion of Mr. Weisman's federal tax refund in the amount of \$1,043.66. *Id.*; CP 130-133. ESD did this although Mr. Weisman had filed an administrative appeal as ESD had suggested.

Mr. Weisman's administrative appeal was dismissed.

The administrative law judge held the appeal was untimely and there was no administrative appeal jurisdiction over challenges to a tax refund intercept. ESD's Commissioner affirmed, saying that federal law required only an "opportunity to correspond" with the Collections Unit before a tax intercept, and Mr. Weisman had been given that opportunity. CP 29.

Mr. Weisman sought judicial review under the WAPA and also filed suit in King County Superior Court alleging violations of the governing federal law and of his Fourteenth Amendment right not to have his property taken without due process. The lawsuit sought a declaration that the seizure of his tax refund violated his rights and, *inter alia*, an injunction requiring ESD to return it. CP 1-9.

Early discovery in the lawsuit revealed that ESD has an internal Policy Manual which says the "evidence" supporting a recipient's objection to a tax refund intercept must be "documentation such as an ESC billing that reflects the TOP DTMs<sup>[4]</sup> are paid in full." CP 140; RP 31:21-32:6. Those unpublished requirements are nowhere in the governing statute and regulations—or in the Notice ESD sent Mr. Weisman, or in either of its responses to his submission. ESD's internal Manual also says intercepts can be initiated not only for "Fraud

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> ESD's Policy Manual doesn't define "DTM," but deposition testimony below indicated it means "determination."

DTMs," but also "Non-Fraud DTMs with back pay, earnings, holiday pay, separation pay, sick pay, vacation pay, plant closure pay, NSF fees," and "Active accounts." CP 142.

Mr. Weisman moved for partial summary judgment seeking (1) a declaratory judgment that ESD's failure to consider his challenge to the intercept violated federal law and denied him Due Process, and (2) an injunction requiring ESD to return his seized money. CP 75-150. ESD opposed the Motion; but in argument its counsel acknowledged it had never even considered Mr. Weisman's email challenge to the intercept because, under its unpublished standards and rules, it was not "evidence" and could not have made a difference. RP 12:13–13:5, 13:7-15, 34:9-14, 33:8-18.

The trial court granted Mr. Weisman's motion for partial summary judgment, made findings and conclusions from the bench and ordered ESD to return his tax refund. CP 318; RP 32:7-33:18, 36:20-21. ESD then filed a "Motion for Entry of Final Judgment," arguing that no issues remained in the case.

CP 321. Mr. Weisman opposed this, pointing to additional, unresolved claims in his Complaint (CP 347) and the trial court denied ESD's motion. CP 387. ESD then sought review "of the Superior Court's Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgement." CP 341. Its Discretionary Review Notice didn't mention its untimely request for judgment in its favor or the "Motion for Entry of Final Judgment." *Id*.

The case then proceeded and the parties began conducting discovery on Mr. Weisman's remaining claims regarding the legality of the process that led up to the overpayment notices. This discovery revealed, among other things, that ESD instructs its collections staff to check a box on the computer screen indicating that the overpayment was the recipient's "fault," regardless of the reasons the overpayment actually occurred. See CP 423. Mr. Weisman accordingly filed a motion to amend his complaint to include that fact and new claims based on information revealed after the partial summary judgment ruling. CP 401.

That Motion to Amend was pending when the Court of Appeals granted ESD's Motion for Discretionary Review (CP 432) and stayed further trial court proceedings.

#### b. The Court of Appeals' Decision

The Court of Appeals panel reversed the partial summary judgment order. Its Opinion upheld ESD's claim that it can intercept federal income tax refunds whenever it finds that a recipient has been overpaid and has not timely appealed from its overpayment determination. App. D at 10-11. It held "[t]here is no requirement that the debtor engaged in misconduct when failing to report earnings or intentionally did so." *Id.* at 11 (emphasis added). In saying that it did not cite or even acknowledge authority that Mr. Weisman submitted to it and to the trial court<sup>5</sup> which the statement directly contravenes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Opinion says Mr. Weisman raised this argument "[f]or the first time on appeal." App. C 10. That is incorrect. Weisman's appellate brief repeated almost verbatim his trial court briefing on this issue (see CP 311), which the trial court's ruling was largely based on. See RP 25, 33. Weisman's reconsideration motion pointed this out, but to no avail.

That authority holds that "fail" "connotes some omission, fault, or negligence on the part of the person who has failed to do something." *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 420, 431,130 S.Ct. 1479 (2000); *accord* BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 594 (6th ed.1990) ("[f]ault, negligence, or refusal"); Resp. Br. 22-23.

Based on its contrary interpretation of the word "fail," the Court of Appeals' Opinion held that ESD had not violated Mr. Weisman's rights under the federal statute or the Due Process Clause by refusing to consider his emailed objections.

This is because, contrary to the trial court's oral findings, Weisman did not clearly assert in his January 15 email that the debt was not based on failure to report earnings.

Instead, he stated that he did not commit fraud or any "intentional misrepresentation," but admitted that the ESD web-based program was not suited to the SharedWork claims and it was possible he may have checked a wrong box. It is evident from the January 15 email that Weisman indicated the overpayment may have resulted by mistakenly underreporting his earnings because of a confusing reporting system. But questioning why he may have underreported his earnings is not equivalent to submitting evidence that the debt was not based on his failure to report earnings. Thus, we agree with ESD that it did not consider any evidence because there was no evidence to consider.

App. D 14 (emphasis added). This description of the email is incomplete<sup>6</sup> and takes a cramped view of what constitutes "evidence" outside of the judicial process.<sup>7</sup> But as the passage makes clear, that ultimately made no difference to the Court of Appeals' decision. It says explicitly that the reason the panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For example, the email also said, "we did as we were directed" and ESD's "web site is difficult to navigate and this process was impenetrable." CP 120-121. As the trial court summarized, its message was obviously that he was not at fault for any overpayment because "the forms and the website that that he was asked to complete and provide information through didn't make sense given the nature of the shared work program." RP 25:9-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>See CP 314; *DeGeorge v. U.S. District Court*, 219 F.3d 930, 937-8 (9th Cir. 2000) ("The ordinary definition of evidence is broad"); RCW 34.05.452 (administrative proceedings allow "the kind of evidence on which reasonably prudent persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of their affairs."); 20 C.F.R. § 416.913(a) ("evidence is anything you or anyone else submits to us or that we obtain that relates to your claim," for purposes of Supplemental Social Security Income benefits review)

"agree[d]" that Mr. Weisman's email presented ESD with "no evidence to consider" was its holding that persons who do not report earnings thereby "fail" to report earnings under this law. It followed directly from this premise that "why he may have underreported his earnings" was irrelevant and "no evidence."

Seemingly inconsistently, the Opinion also said ESD "did consider the email." App. D 14. This directly contradicted the trial court's finding that ESD "didn't consider the evidence that he had submitted" (RP 33) which was based on the full record and a concession in oral argument from ESD's counsel. See page 11, above. The Opinion did not say by what standard the appeals panel had reviewed that factual finding, but explained its decision to reverse it as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The Opinion also said "[t]he fact that the intercept notice did not define what type of 'evidence' is acceptable, is to Weisman's benefit, not detriment." App. D 13. It didn't explain that statement or cite authority for it, but presumably it means the appeals panel didn't rely on ESD's argument that it could disregard Weisman's email because it did not comply with some formal rules of evidence, or ESD's unpublished ones.

This consideration is evident by ESD resending Weisman the overpayment determination letters in response to his January 15 email. The overpayment determination letters explicitly told Weisman that the reason for the ESD action was because "[y]ou didn't report your gross earnings when you submitted your weekly claim." The letters also explicitly laid out the benefits that ESD paid him, the amount to which he was entitled, and the amount he was overpaid. This suggests that Collections did consider the email, researched its own records, and confirmed the debt was based on Weisman's failure to report earnings.

#### App. D 13-14.

We would respectfully take issue with every aspect of this passage. A "suggestion" cannot be sufficient to overturn a trial court's factual finding. Simply referring to copies of a challenged decision cannot, alone, make it "evident" that its merits have been independently "considered." An appeals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See Brownlee v. Haley, 306 F.3d 1043, 1076 (11th Cir. 2002). BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 277 (5th ed. 1979) ("consider" means "to fix the mind on, with a view to careful examination; to examine; to inspect. To deliberate about and ponder over. To entertain or give heed to."); WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INT'L DICTIONARY, 483 (1986) ("to reflect on: think about with a degree of care or caution").

court cannot properly overturn a trial court based on speculation that a party may have done independent research before acting when there is no evidence whatever that the party ever did so.

But again, none of these things ultimately mattered. The reversal of the trial court's finding about "consideration" followed from the Court of Appeals' overriding premise that "failed to" is the same as "did not." The above-quoted passage is explicit about this: it says the letters told Mr. Weisman "the reason for the ESD action" was "'[y]ou didn't report your gross earnings." (Emphasis added.)

Finally, the Court of Appeals ruled as a matter of law that ESD had *not* violated Mr. Weisman's Due Process rights. App. D 18. It did so even though ESD did not properly file a motion for partial summary judgment in its favor in the trial court, and its Notice of Discretionary Review did not reference any such motion or a ruling on it. The Court of Appeals nonetheless determined *sua sponte* that ESD's position that Mr. Weisman "failed" to report earnings was correct. See App. D 14-15. The

panel reached this conclusion even though neither it nor ESD could explain how some of the amounts of the alleged overpayment were calculated. App. D 2 n.1.<sup>10</sup> But once again, because it accepted ESD's argument that the statute allows tax intercepts to be used to collect *any* overpayment debt, without a finding of fraud or culpable failure, this uncertainty made no difference to it.

Mr. Weisman timely moved for reconsideration.

Reconsideration was denied, App. B, as was a Motion to

Publish filed by ESD, App. C. This Petition is being filed within 30 days of the latter decision. See RAP 13.4(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>See App. D 3n.2: There is no explanation in the record why ESD paid \$519 instead of the calculated \$790 for week ending July 25 based on his report of getting paid only 8 hours of sick leave." ESD's counsel was asked about this in argument before the Court of Appeals and was unable to explain it then, either. *See Weisman v. Dep't of Emp. Sec.*, No. 83893-8-I (March 7, 2023) (video recording by TVW, https://tvw.org /video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2023031229/?eventID= 2023031229) at App's Opening 5:40-5:10.

#### **ARGUMENT**

REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH U.S. SUPREME COURT AUTHORITY ON AN ISSUE OF FEDERAL LAW, AND THE MISUSE OF NONJUDICIAL TAX REFUND INTERCEPTS BY THE STATE DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY IN THE COLLECTION OF ALLEGED OVERPAYMENT DEBTS PRESENTS SIGNIFICANT ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THIS COURT. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

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