#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2023 11:56 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON **CLERK**

NO. 102150-0

#### **SUPREME COURT** OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL WEISMAN,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY, ET AL.,

RESPONDENTS.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LEAH E. HARRIS, WSBA #40815 JEREMY M. GELMS, WSBA #45646 Assistant Attorneys General Attorney for Respondents OID #91020 800 Fifth Ave, Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104

Phone: (206) 464-7676

E-mail: Leah.Harris@atg.wa.gov Jeremy.Gelms@atg.wa.gov LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

### **

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Weisman's Petition is premised almost exclusively on his misguided argument—which he raised for the first time in the Court of Appeals—that "failure to report earnings" under federal offset law requires intentional or fraudulent conduct. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument. As the plain statutory language, legislative history, and federal guidance make clear, "There is no requirement that the debtor engaged in misconduct when failing to report earnings or intentionally did so." *Weisman*, slip op. at 11 (citing U.S. Department of Labor advisory letters).

The cases with which Weisman claims the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts are simply inapposite. They have no bearing on the federal offset law. There is no conflict with any authority, this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest, and Weisman does not support with argument his claim that a significant constitutional question is involved. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). The Court should deny review.

# A. Weisman's Overpayment Debt—and the Finding That It Resulted from His Failure to Report Earnings—Were Final

Weisman's overpayment debt qualified for recovery under the Treasury Offset Program because it was a "covered unemployment compensation debt" under federal law.

State workforce agencies use the program to satisfy "covered unemployment compensation debt." 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f)(1). Federal law defines "covered unemployment compensation debt" as "a past-due debt for erroneous payment of unemployment compensation due to fraud *or the person's failure to report earnings which has become final under the law of a State* . . . and which remains uncollected." 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f)(4) (emphasis added). The fact that Weisman had an "erroneous payment of unemployment compensation" is undisputed. Because that erroneous payment was due to Weisman's "failure to report earnings which [had] become final under the law of [the State]," it was a "covered unemployment

compensation debt" and was, therefore, eligible for recovery under the Treasury Offset Program.

Under the Employment Security Act, Title 50 RCW, if a claimant fails to appeal a benefits determination within 30 days, it is "conclusively deemed to be correct" and is, therefore, "final" under Washington law. RCW 50.32.020; 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f)(4). When ESD issues an overpayment determination, it "set[s] forth the reasons for and the amount of the overpayment." RCW 50.20.190(1). A person can appeal, which "shall be deemed to be an appeal from the determination which was the basis for establishing the overpayment[.]" RCW 50.20.190(3) (emphasis added). ESD's rule provides that a hearing on a timely overpayment appeal can address: 1) the reason for the overpayment, 2) the amount of the overpayment, 3) the finding of fault or nonfault, and 4) the reason a waiver was allowed or denied. WAC 192-220-060(1)(a)-(d). But, if no appeal is taken within 30 days, "the determination of liability shall be deemed conclusive and final." RCW 50.20.190(3); RCW 50.32.020.

Thus when a claimant does not appeal an overpayment determination, both the amount *and* reason for the overpayment become "final under the law of a State" under the federal offset statute. 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f)(4)(A). Importantly, "An unappealed final order from the [state agency] precludes the parties from rearguing the same claim." *Marley v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 538, 886 P.2d 189 (1994).

Here, ESD issued Weisman two overpayment determinations, one for each week he was overpaid benefits. CP 256-57, ¶¶ 14, 16; 296-3•4. The determinations informed Weisman that he had been overpaid benefits because "you didn't report your gross earnings when you submitted your weekly claim[s]," and the overpayments could not be waived because he was "at fault for the overpayment[s]." CP 296, 3•1. They also detailed the amounts of the overpayments, notified Weisman he had the right to appeal the determinations, and provided the applicable appeal deadline. CP 297, 299, 3•2, 3•4.

It is undisputed that Weisman did not pay the debts or appeal the determinations within 30 days. CP 257-58, ¶¶ 15, 17. Accordingly, the debts became final under Washington law, *including* the findings that the debts were "due to [Weisman's] failure to report earnings." RCW 50.32.020; 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f)(4); Weisman, slip op. at 16-17. As the Court of Appeals properly noted, "by the time the debt was eligible for the intercept program it was already a final debt under the law." Weisman, slip op. at 16.

## B. "Failure to Report Earnings" Under the Treasury Offset Program Does Not Require Misconduct or Intentional Misrepresentation

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Weisman's misguided argument that "failure to report earnings" requires the debtor to have engaged in misconduct or to have intentionally failed to report earnings. *Weisman*, slip op. at 10-11. Weisman continues to ignore that the plain language of the statute, the legislative history, and federal guidance, which all confirm that "failure to report" does not require misconduct.

One need not look past the plain statutory language to recognize that "covered unemployment debt includes past-due debts due to the misconduct of fraud or when someone simply fails to report earnings." Weisman, slip op. at 11. That is because the law allows recovery of unemployment debt due to "fraud or failure to report earnings." 26 U.S.C. §6402(f)(4)(A) (emphasis Under straightforward principles of added). statutory construction, "failure to report earnings" must mean something other than "fraud." Simpson Inv. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue, 141 Wn.2d 139, 160, 3 P.3d 741 (2000) (when different words are used in the same statute, it is presumed that they are intended to have different meaning).

The legislative history confirms this straightforward interpretation. Congress originally adopted the Treasury Offset Program in 2008. SSI Extension for Elderly and Disabled Refugees Act, Pub. L. No. 110-328, § 3, 122 Stat. 3567, 3570-73 (2008). At that time, the law *did* restrict recovery of unemployment compensation debts to those incurred due to

fraud only, as it defined "covered unemployment compensation debt" as "a past-due debt for erroneous payment of unemployment compensation *due to fraud* which has become final under the law of a State[.]" *Id.* at § 3(a)(f)(5)(A) (emphasis added).

But in 2010, Congress expanded the program to expressly authorize the recovery of unemployment debts due to claimants' failure to report earnings as well, by inserting "or the person's failure to report earnings" after "due to fraud" in the definition of "covered unemployment compensation debt" for erroneous payments of benefits. Claims Resolution Act of 2010, Pub. L. No. 111-291, § 801(a)(4)(A)(i), 124 Stat. 3064. The very purpose of the 2010 amendments was to expand the use of this successful federal-state debt recovery program by lifting restrictions that limited the authority to recoup unemployment compensation debt to cases involving fraud.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> News Release, U.S. Dep't of the Treasury—Bureau of the Fiscal Serv., *Treasury Offset Program Collects Millions in* 

Consistent with common canons of construction, legislative history, and congressional intent, the U.S. Department of Labor has instructed states that the terms have separate meanings. After Congress added "failure to report earnings" as a qualifying reason to offset a person's tax refund to satisfy an unemployment debt, the Labor Department explained: "TOP may now be used to collect erroneous payments that are due either to fraud or to the persons' failure to report earnings, even if the state does not find that such failure constituted fraud." UIPL 11-11 (2011) at 2.8 In its 2018 guidance, the Department reiterated that state workforce agencies "must use TOP to collect erroneous payments made to [unemployment compensation]

\_

State Unemployment Compensation Debts (Mar. 31, 2011), https://fiscal.treasury.gov/news/treasury-offset-program-collects-millions-in-state-unemployment-compensation-debts.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> U.S. Dep't of Lab.: Emp. & Training Admin. Advisory Sys., Unemployment Ins. Program Letter No. 11-11 (Mar. 8, 2011),

https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ETA/advisories/UIPL/20 11/UIPL11-11.pdf

claimants that are due to fraud or to the person's failure to report earnings. This is true *even if the state does not find that the failure* to report earnings constituted fraud." UIPL 02-19 (2018) at 2.9

The Court of Appeals properly held that "[t]he plain language of the statute provides that covered unemployment debt includes past-due debts due to the misconduct of fraud or when someone simply fails to report earnings." *Weisman*, Slip Op. at 11. There is no need for further review of that unremarkable holding.

#### C. There is No Conflict Requiring Review

Given the clear statutory language and the well-documented legislative history and intent, it is unsurprising that there is, in fact, no conflict with a decision of the United States Supreme Court, as Weisman claims. *See* Pet. for Review

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> U.S. Dep't of Lab.: Emp. & Training Admin.
 Advisory Sys., Unemployment Ins. Program Letter
 No. 02-19 (Dec. 12, 2018)

https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ETA/advisories/UIPL/20 18/UIPL\_2-19\_Acc.pdf.

22-23 (citing Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 420, 120 S. Ct. 1479, 146 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); Yates v. United States, 574 U.S. 528, 135 S. Ct. 1074, 191 L. Ed. 2d 64 (2015)).

Yates v. United States merely discusses the statutory construction canons noscitur a sociis and ejusdem generis, as applied to unrelated statutes that do not even use the word "fail." Yates, 574 U.S. at 543-551.

And, rather than conflicting with the Court of Appeal's decision, *Williams* actually supports that "failure" does not require an intentional act. There, the Supreme Court held the word "failure" in the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 involves "some *omission*, fault *or* negligence on the part of the person who has failed to do something." *Williams*, 529 U.S. at 431 (emphasis added). "To say a person has failed in a duty implies he did not take the necessary steps to fulfill it." *Id.* at 432.

An "omission" includes "the act of leaving something out" or "something that is left undone, or otherwise neglected."

Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). And here, regardless of whether he did so intentionally or not, it is uncontested that Weisman *omitted* earnings from two of his weekly unemployment claims—i.e., he did not take the necessary steps to report them, as was his duty. WAC 192-250-035(2); WAC 192-140-005.

There is no conflict for this Court's review.

RAP 13.4(b)(1).

#### D. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

In an attempt to manufacture an issue of substantial public interest, Weisman now falsely claims that ESD seeks to use the Treasury Offset Program to recover overpayment debt "regardless of the reason for the overpayment." Pet. for Review 1-2, 12, 23, 25. ESD has *never* taken the position—and the Court of Appeals did not hold—that ESD can use the Treasury Offset Program to recover an overpayment debt incurred for any reason other than "fraud or failure to report earnings," as provided in 26 U.S.C. § 6402(f)(4)(A). As this case involves Weisman's

"failure to report earnings," the finding of which had become final under state law when Weisman did not appeal, ESD properly used the Treasury Offset Program to recoup the debt here.

One of the primary purposes of the Treasury Offset notice procedure is to allow a debtor the opportunity to present evidence showing that the final overpayment determination concluded that the overpayment was the result of something other than fraud or failure to report earnings—such as a finding that the claimant voluntarily quit work without good cause or was discharged from work for misconduct, where their claims initially were allowed. See RCW 50.20.050 (disqualification for quitting without good cause), .066 (disqualification for discharge for misconduct). Overpayments based on these reasons would make the debts ineligible for offset. See UIPL 11-11 (2011) ("States may not collect overpayments due to any other reason [other than fraud or failure to report], such as appeals reversals of separation issues or other adjudications.").

Weisman ignores all of this, or pretends not to understand it. Either way, the Court should decline to accept this newly-invented and misleading issue for review.

# E. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That ESD Complied with Federal Offset Law as a Matter of Law

Finally, Weisman makes the odd suggestion in an issue statement that the Court of Appeals somehow was not authorized to make legal conclusions about the propriety of ESD's overpayment recovery process in this case. Pet. for Review 5. He does not support this issue with argument, so the Court should decline to consider it. *State v. Farmer*, 116 Wn.2d 414, 432, 805 P.2d 200 (1991) ("[I]ssues not supported by argument and citation to authority will not be considered on appeal.").

But even so, ESD sought—and was granted—discretionary review by the Court of Appeals of the order granting partial summary judgment to Weisman. On review, ESD argued that partial summary judgment was improper *not* because there were disputed issues of material fact, but because the superior court got it wrong as a matter of law. Pet'rs' Opening

Br. 24. It is well settled that when the facts are not in dispute, appellate courts can grant summary judgment in favor of the nonmoving party if that party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Impecoven v. Dep't of Revenue*, 120 Wn.2d 357, 365, 841 P.2d 752 (1992); *In re Grant*, 199 Wn. App. 119, 135, 397 P.3d 912 (2017). And here, ESD *did* ask the superior court to grant summary judgment in its favor in its response to Weisman's partial summary judgment motion. CP 159, 173-74. Weisman's argument distorts the procedural posture of this case and is not a ground for this Court's review.

# V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Review.

## **CERTIFICATION**

I certify that this document contains 4988 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.